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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

MEDICINOVA, INC.
(a development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

   
June 30,

2007   
December 31,

2006  
   (Unaudited)     
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 12,654,344  $ 8,334,496 
Marketable securities available-for-sale    73,205,968   95,716,690 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    3,903,833   6,618,994 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    89,764,145   110,670,180 
Property and equipment, net    867,190   870,645 
Other assets    —     50,000 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 90,631,335  $ 111,590,825 
    

 

   

 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable   $ 3,020,067  $ 3,828,270 
Accrued expenses    9,017,028   6,332,269 
Accrued compensation and related expenses    503,260   408,004 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    12,540,355   10,568,543 
Deferred rent    23,173   41,374 
Commitments and contingencies    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006;
11,754,181 and 10,421,985 shares issued at June 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively    11,754   10,422 

Additional paid-in capital    271,344,282   258,611,697 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (12,844)  (49,205)
Treasury stock, at cost; 129,600 shares at June 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006    (1,437,870)  (1,437,870)
Deficit accumulated during the development stage    (191,837,515)  (156,154,136)

    
 

   
 

Total stockholders’ equity    78,067,807   100,980,908 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 90,631,335  $ 111,590,825 
    

 

   

 

See accompanying notes.
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MEDICINOVA, INC.
(a development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)

 

 

 Three months ended June 30,   Six months ended June 30,   

Period from
September 26,

2000 (inception)
to June 30,

2007   2007   2006   2007   2006   
Revenues  $ —    $ 66,672  $ —    $ 258,876  $ 1,558,227 
Operating expenses:      

Cost of revenues   —     49,725   —     141,606   1,258,421 
Research and development   17,855,366   6,508,317   32,060,611   14,260,567   109,784,563 
General and administrative   3,045,782   2,197,707   6,059,514   4,402,416   64,573,654 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total operating expenses   20,901,148   8,755,749   38,120,125   18,804,589   175,616,638 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Operating loss   (20,901,148)  (8,689,077)  (38,120,125)  (18,545,713)  (174,058,411)
Interest income   1,121,330   1,456,170   2,436,747   2,863,323   13,584,018 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net loss   (19,779,818)  (7,232,907)  (35,683,378)  (15,682,390)  (160,474,393)
Accretion to redemption value of redeemable convertible

preferred stock   —     —     —     —     (98,445)
Deemed dividend resulting from beneficial conversion feature

on Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock   —     —     —     —     (31,264,677)
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Net loss applicable to common stockholders  $ (19,779,818) $ (7,232,907) $ (35,683,378) $ (15,682,390) $ (191,837,515)
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Basic and diluted net loss per common share  $ (1.68) $ (0.72) $ (3.08) $ (1.69) 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

Shares used to compute basic and diluted net loss per common
share   11,754,181   10,083,063   11,575,550   9,285,666  

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

See accompanying notes.
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MEDICINOVA, INC.
(a development stage company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

 

   Six months ended June 30,   

Period from
September 26,

2000 (inception)
to June 30,

2007     2007   2006   
Operating activities:     

Net loss   $ (35,683,378) $ (15,682,390) $ (160,474,392)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:     

Stock-based compensation    2,095,325   1,026,597   38,919,159 
Depreciation and amortization    258,638   172,514   1,013,703 
Amortization of premium/discount on marketable securities    (155,677)  (552,726)  (1,769,815)
Impairment of property and equipment    —     35,259   35,259 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Prepaid expenses and other assets    2,761,679   150,588   (3,907,315)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and deferred rent    1,858,356   765,244   12,060,269 
Accrued compensation and related expenses    95,256   (661,218)  503,260 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash used in operating activities    (28,769,801)  (14,746,132)  (113,619,872)
    

 
   

 
   

 

Investing activities:     
Purchases of marketable securities available-for-sale    (16,509,045)  (42,857,020)  (350,002,166)
Maturities of marketable securities available-for-sale    39,215,285   36,003,000   278,556,649 
Acquisition of property and equipment    (317,207)  (146,821)  (2,172,997)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment    62,024   —     256,845 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    22,451,057   (7,000,841)  (73,361,669)
    

 
   

 
   

 

Financing activities:     
Net proceeds from the sale of common stock    10,638,592   129,000   120,856,784 
Sale of preferred stock, net of issuance costs    —     —     80,216,971 
Purchase of treasury stock    —     (984,815)  (1,437,870)

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    10,638,592   (855,815)  199,635,885 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    4,319,848   (22,602,788)  12,654,344 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period    8,334,496   37,677,985   —   

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period   $ 12,654,344  $ 15,075,197  $ 12,654,344 
    

 

   

 

   

 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:     
Conversion of convertible preferred stock into common stock upon IPO   $ —    $ —    $ 43,515,677 

    

 

   

 

   

 

Unrealized (gain)/loss on marketable securities available-for-sale   $ (39,841) $ 4,015  $ 9,364 
    

 

   

 

   

 

See accompanying notes.
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MEDICINOVA, INC.
(a development stage company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

1. Interim Financial Information

The Company

We were incorporated in the state of Delaware in September 2000. We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on acquiring and developing novel, small
molecule therapeutics. Through strategic alliances primarily with Japanese pharmaceutical companies, we are developing a diversified portfolio of product
candidates, each of which we believe is protected by patent assets having claims of a commercially adequate scope, a well-characterized and differentiated
therapeutic profile and attractive commercial potential.

Basis of Presentation

We have prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and disclosures required by generally accepted
accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of our management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered
necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, results of operations and cash flow for the interim periods presented have been included. Operating
results for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2007 or for any other period. For further information, see the financial statements and disclosures thereto for the year ended December 31, 2006 in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MediciNova, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. MediciNova, Inc. and its subsidiaries
are collectively referred to herein as “we,” “our” or “us.”

On December 11, 2006, MediciNova (Europe) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of MediciNova, Inc., was incorporated under the laws of England and
Wales and established for the purpose of facilitating the clinical development of our compounds for the European marketplace. MediciNova (Europe) Limited’s
functional currency is the U.S. dollar, the reporting currency of its parent.

On January 4, 2007, MediciNova Japan, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of MediciNova, Inc., was incorporated under the laws of Japan and established to
strengthen business development and investor and public relations activities in Japan and other Asian countries. MediciNova Japan, Inc.’s functional currency is
the U.S. dollar, the reporting currency of its parent.

All intercompany transactions and investments in our subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

We have prepared the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America, which requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may
differ from those estimates.
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New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In June 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) in EITF Issue No. 07-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable
Advance Payments for Goods or Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities, which requires that nonrefundable advance payments
for goods or services that will be used or rendered for future research and development activities be deferred and amortized over the period that the goods are
delivered or the related services are performed, subject to an assessment of recoverability. EITF 07-3 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2007, which will be our fiscal year 2008. We believe that the adoption of EITF 07-3 will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities, which allows an entity to voluntarily choose to measure certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value. SFAS No. 159 will be effective
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, which will be our fiscal year 2008. We have not yet evaluated the potential impact of adopting SFAS No. 159
on our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value
under GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, which
will be our fiscal year 2008. We have not yet evaluated the potential impact of adopting SFAS No. 157 on our consolidated financial statements.

2. Marketable Securities Available-for-Sale

Marketable securities available-for-sale consist of high-grade auction rate securities (“ARS”), corporate debt securities and government-sponsored
securities. All of the corporate debt securities and the government- sponsored securities have contractual maturities of 12 months or less as of June 30, 2007. The
ARS have either a stated or perpetual maturity that is structured with short-term holding periods. At the end of each holding period, a new auction is held to
determine the rate or dividend for the next holding period. We can sell or continue to hold securities at par at each auction. In order for us to sell ARS, the auction
needs to be successful whereby demand in the marketplace exceeds the supply. The length of each holding period is determined at the original issuance of the
ARS. ARS holding periods range from seven to 63 days. As of June 30, 2006, our ARS consisted of $32,300,000 of perpetual securities and $54,300,000 of
securities with stated maturity dates ranging from 2022 to 2044 and reset dates of up to 63 days. As of June 30, 2007, our ARS consisted of $3,000,000 of
perpetual securities and $61,325,000 of securities with stated maturity dates ranging from 2009 to 2047 and reset dates of up to 63 days.
 
  June 30, 2007  December 31, 2006
  Amortized

Cost
 Gross Unrealized   

Fair Value
 Amortized

Cost
 Gross Unrealized   

Fair Value   Gains  Losses     Gains  Losses   
Auction rate securities  $ 64,325,000 $  —   $ —    $ 64,325,000 $ 83,425,000 $ —   $ —    $ 83,425,000
Corporate debt securities   1,498,883  319  —     1,499,202  2,948,618  1,372  —     2,949,990
Government- sponsored securities   7,391,449  —    (9,683)  7,381,766  9,392,277  —    (50,577)  9,341,700

         
 

            
 

   

 $ 73,215,332 $ 319 $ (9,683) $ 73,205,968 $ 95,765,895 $ 1,372 $ (50,577) $ 95,716,690
         

 

            

 

   

As of June 30, 2007, the unrealized gains and losses on corporate debt securities and government-sponsored securities were primarily caused by recent
increases in interest rates and timing. Based on an evaluation of the
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credit standing of each issuer, management believes it is probable that we will be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms. We had no
realized losses on sales of investment securities available-for-sale for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007.

3. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share applicable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to
common stockholders by the weighted average number of common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury stock method. For
purposes of this calculation, convertible preferred stock (of which we have none outstanding), stock options and warrants are considered to be common stock
equivalents and are only included in the calculation of diluted net loss per share when their effect is dilutive.

Common stock equivalents of options to purchase 2,066,153 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 417,828 shares of common stock and
common stock equivalents of options to purchase 670,916 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase 1,036,668 shares of common stock for the three
months and six months ended June 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, are excluded from the calculations of diluted loss per share for all periods presented because
the effect is non-dilutive.

4. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

We have applied SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, which requires that all components of comprehensive income (loss), including net
income (loss), be reported in the financial statements in the period in which they are recognized. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity
during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. Net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss),
including foreign currency translation adjustments and unrealized gains and losses on investments, are reported, net of their related tax effect, to arrive at
comprehensive income (loss). Comprehensive loss did not differ significantly from net loss for all periods presented.

5. Share-Based Payments

We currently maintain two equity-based compensation plans: (i) the MediciNova, Inc. 2000 General Stock Incentive Plan (the “2000 Plan”) and (ii) the
MediciNova, Inc. Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”). We currently grant stock options to our employees, officers, directors and
consultants under the 2004 Plan, the successor to the 2000 Plan. Stock options issued to non-employees were recorded at their fair value as determined in
accordance with EITF Issue No. 96-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling,
Goods or Services. Effective January 1, 2006, the benefits provided under these Plans constitute share-based compensation subject to the provisions of SFAS
No. 123R, Share-Based Payments.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, our net losses for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007 and three months and six months
ended June 30, 2006 were higher by approximately $1.2 million and $2.1 million and $0.2 million and $0.8 million, respectively, than if we had continued to
account for share-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25. For the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007
and three months and six months ended June 30, 2006, share-based compensation expense related to stock options was primarily recorded as a component of
general and administrative expense. There were no stock option exercises during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007. As of June 30, 2007,
there was $10.4 million of unamortized compensation cost related to unvested stock option awards, which is expected to be recognized over a remaining
weighted-average vesting period of 2.9 years.
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The exercise prices of options to purchase 18,000 shares of common stock and 145,000 shares of common stock granted during the three months and six
months ended June 30, 2007, respectively, were either equal to market value or at prices above market value on the date of grant and the share-based
compensation expense for such stock options is reflected in our operating results for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007. The estimated fair
value of each stock option award was determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weighted-average
assumptions for stock option grants:
 

  
Three months ended

June 30, 2007   
Three months ended

June 30, 2006   
Six months ended

June 30, 2007   
Six months ended

June 30, 2006  
Risk free interest rate  5.03% 5.00% 4.71% 4.41%
Expected volatility of common stock  69.00% 69.00% 69.00% 69.00%
Dividend yield  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 
Expected option term (in years)  4.0  6.0  4.0  6.0 

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates appropriate for the expected term of our employee stock options. The expected
volatility is based on the weighted average volatility of our stock price, factoring in changes in the daily share price and the volatility of certain peers within our
industry sector. We have not paid any dividends on our common stock since our inception, and we do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. For fiscal year 2007, the expected life of employee stock options represents the weighted average of the expected life of our stock options and
the expected stock option life of our peer group’s stock options. In fiscal year 2006, the expected life of employee stock options represents the average of the life
of the options and the average vesting period and is a derived output of the simplified method, as allowed under the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment.

As share-based compensation expense recognized in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the three months and six months ended
June 30, 2007 was based on awards ultimately expected to vest, such expense should be reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123R requires forfeitures to
be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeitures have been estimated
at 15% based on fiscal year 2006’s turnover rate and certain other facts. In our pro forma information required under SFAS No. 123 for the periods prior to fiscal
year 2006, we accounted for forfeitures as they occurred. Our determination of fair value is affected by our stock price, as well as a number of assumptions that
require our judgment. The weighted-average fair value of each stock option granted during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007, estimated as of
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model, was $3.19 per stock option and $5.27 per stock option, respectively, as compared to $8.90 per
stock option and $7.80 per stock option during the three months and six months ended June 30, 2006, respectively.

6. Income Taxes

On July 13, 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements in
accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial
statement disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. Under FIN 48, the impact of an uncertain income tax position on an income tax
return must be recognized at the largest amount that is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain
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income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2006.

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, we had no cumulative effect adjustment, and therefore no
change to the January 1, 2007 balance in retained earnings. At January 1, 2007 and June 30, 2007, we had no unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would
affect our effective income tax rate in future periods.

Our practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. We had no accrued interest or penalties at
January 1, 2007 and no accrued interest or penalties at June 30, 2007.

We are subject to taxation in the United States and various state jurisdictions. Our tax years for fiscal year 2000 and forward are subject to examination by
the U.S. and state tax authorities due to the carryforward of unutilized net operating losses and research and development credits.

The adoption of FIN 48 did not impact our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. At January 1, 2007, we had net deferred tax
assets of $37.1 million. The deferred tax assets are primarily composed of federal and state tax net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and federal and state
research and development (“R&D”) credit carryforwards. Due to uncertainties surrounding our ability to generate future taxable income in order to realize these
assets, a full valuation has been established to offset our net deferred tax asset. Additionally, the future utilization of our NOL and R&D credit carryforwards to
offset future taxable income may be subject to a substantial annual limitation as a result of ownership changes that may have occurred previously or that could
occur in the future. We have not yet determined whether such an ownership change has occurred; however, we plan to complete an Internal Revenue Code
Section 382 analysis regarding the limitation of the net operating losses and research and development credits. When this analysis is completed, we plan to update
our unrecognized tax benefits under FIN 48. Therefore, we expect that the unrecognized tax benefits may change within 12 months of June 30, 2007. At this time,
we cannot estimate how much the unrecognized tax benefits may change. Any carryforwards that will expire prior to utilization as a result of such limitations will
be removed from deferred tax assets with a corresponding reduction of the valuation allowance. Due to the existence of the valuation allowance, future changes in
our unrecognized tax benefits will not impact our effective tax rate.

7. Related Party Transactions

Effective January 1, 2007, Yuichi Iwaki, M.D., Ph.D., our President and Chief Executive Officer, became a full time employee of the company. On
March 30, 2007, our board of directors approved an Executive Employment Agreement for Dr. Iwaki, which we entered into with Dr. Iwaki on April 1, 2007.

On May 4, 2007, our board of directors approved the modification of certain stock option grants received by Dr. Iwaki while serving in his consulting
capacity as President and Chief Executive Officer as a result of the change in Dr. Iwaki’s status from consultant to employee. Two nonqualified stock option
(“NSO”) grants received by Dr. Iwaki for 40,000 shares of common stock and 333,503 shares of common stock, which were granted on January 4, 2006 and
November 12, 2006, respectively, were modified such that the NSO grants were cancelled and new grants of incentive stock options equal in number to the prior
NSO grants were granted at the prior exercise prices and with the original vesting schedules approved for the cancelled NSO grants. Pursuant to SFAS No. 123R,
there is no impact to our consolidated financial results related to the modification from nonqualified stock options to incentive stock options as there is no
incremental value attributed to the modified awards.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Termination of Phase III Trial for MN-001, Bronchial Asthma

On June 26, 2007, we announced a strategic initiative to focus our resources on the development and commercialization of two key assets in our
development pipeline, MN-221 and MN-166. As part of this strategy,
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we discontinued clinical development of MN-001 in its current immediate-release formulation to continue work on development of a once-per-day oral dosage
form of MN-001 prior to initiating any further Phase III clinical testing. As such, we terminated the Phase III clinical trial of MN-001 for the treatment of
bronchial asthma, in which 213 bronchial asthma patients had been enrolled. Our financial results for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007 reflect
additional research and development expense of $2.7 million based on the current estimate of costs to terminate this clinical trial. We will continue to evaluate
this estimate as we proceed with the wind down of this clinical trial.

Legal Proceedings

On April 30, 2007, a participant in one of our clinical trials filed a lawsuit against us, the clinical investigatory site where the individual participated in the
clinical trial and the chief investigator at such clinical investigatory site. The complaint alleges that the plaintiff’s daughter suffered permanent injuries in utero as
a result of the plaintiff’s participation in our clinical trial. We were served with the complaint on June 18, 2007. In the complaint, the plaintiff seeks damages,
legal fees and other relief deemed proper. The lawsuit is at its initial stages, and we are conducting our factual investigation. We believe that we have meritorious
defenses to the plaintiff’s claims and intend to defend the lawsuit vigorously; however, litigation is inherently uncertain, and we may not prevail in this matter.
While it is premature to determine the outcome of this matter, our insurance carrier has initially assumed defense of this lawsuit. As a result, we do not believe
that the lawsuit will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

In addition, we may become involved in various disputes and legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business. While it is not possible to
accurately predict or determine the outcome of these matters, an adverse result in any of these matters may occur which could harm our business. We are not
currently aware of any such claims or legal proceedings that we believe will have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition or operating
results.

9. Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Options

We currently maintain two equity-based compensation plans: (i) the 2000 Plan and (ii) the 2004 Plan. Each of the 2000 Plan and the 2004 Plan provide for
the issuance of equity-based awards to employees, officers, directors and consultants and are administered by our board of directors or a committee thereof. Stock
options granted under each plan vest and expire based on periods determined by the board of directors or a committee thereof, but in no event can the expiration
date be later than ten years from the date of grant (five years after the date of grant if the grant is an incentive stock option to an employee who owns more than
10% the total combined voting power of all classes of our outstanding stock (a “10% owner”). Stock options may be either incentive stock options or nonqualified
stock options. The per share exercise price of an incentive stock option may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date the
option is granted (110% of the fair market value if the grant is to a 10% owner). The per share exercise price of a nonqualified stock option may not be less than
85% of the fair market value of our common stock on the date the option is granted.

We currently grant stock options to our employees, officers, directors and consultants under the 2004 Plan, the successor to the 2000 Plan. No additional
stock options have been or will be issued under the 2000 Plan subsequent to our initial public offering. However, options previously granted under the 2000 Plan
will remain outstanding until the earlier of expiration or exercise.
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A summary of the changes in stock options outstanding under the 2000 Plan and 2004 Plan during the six months ended June 30, 2007 is as follows:
 

   Options   

Weighted
average

exercise price
Balance at December 31, 2006   2,038,791  $ 12.86
Granted   145,000  $ 16.65
Exercised   —    $ —  
Cancelled   (117,638) $ 20.54

   
 

 

Balance at June 30, 2007   2,066,153  $ 12.68
   

 

 

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2007, outstanding at June 30, 2007 and exercisable at
June 30, 2007 was $0, in each case. Of the total stock options outstanding as of June 30, 2007, options to purchase 562,036 shares of common stock are
exercisable, with a weighted average exercise price of $13.99 per share and a weighted average contractual life of 8.4 years.

Founders’ Warrants

In January 2007, a founder exercised warrants to purchase 359,248 shares of our common stock at $1.00 per share in a cashless exercise that resulted in the
issuance of 332,196 shares of common stock. As of June 30, 2007, the number of underlying shares of common stock that could be purchased under the terms of
the founders’ warrants was 367,828.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the MediciNova, Inc. 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), 300,000 shares of our common stock have been reserved for issuance. The
ESPP permits full-time employees to purchase our common stock through payroll deductions (which cannot exceed 15% of each employee’s compensation) at the
lower of 85% of fair market value at the beginning of the offering period or the end of each six-month purchase period. At June 30, 2007, 300,000 shares of
common stock were available for purchase under the ESPP.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the audited financial statements and notes thereto as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2006 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2007. Past
operating results are not necessarily indicative of results that may occur in future periods.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our
control. Our actual results may differ from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q under the caption “Item 1A, Risk Factors” and the differences may be material. Forward-looking statements discuss matters that
are not historical facts. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our operating strategy, product development and growth
strategy, acquisition strategy, plans, objectives, clinical trials, industry, financial condition, liquidity and capital resources, future performance and other
statements that are not historical facts. Such forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements preceded by, followed by or that otherwise
include the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “estimates,” “projects,” “can,” “could,” “may,” “will,” “would” or similar expressions.
For such statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
You should not rely unduly on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date on which they were made. We undertake no obligation to update
publicly or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless required by law.

Overview and Recent Developments

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on acquiring and developing novel, small molecule therapeutics. Through strategic alliances primarily with
Japanese pharmaceutical companies, we are developing a diversified portfolio of product candidates, each of which we believe is protected by patent assets
having claims of commercially adequate scope, a well-characterized and differentiated therapeutic profile and attractive commercial potential.

We are a development stage company. We have incurred significant net losses since our inception. At June 30, 2007, from inception, our accumulated
deficit was approximately $191.8 million, including $38.9 million of non-cash stock-based compensation charges related to employee stock-based compensation
and founders’ warrants. We expect to incur substantial net losses for the next several years as we continue to develop our existing product development programs
and over the long-term as we expand our research and development programs and acquire or in-license products, technologies or businesses that are
complementary to our own.

Our development programs consist of:
 

 
•  MN-001 for the treatment of bronchial asthma, for which we initiated a Phase III clinical trial in the fourth quarter of 2006 that we subsequently

terminated in the second quarter of 2007 in order to focus on the development of a once-per-day oral dosage form;
 

 •  MN-221 for the treatment of status asthmaticus, for which we initiated a Phase II clinical trial in the fourth quarter of 2006;
 

 
•  MN-166 for the treatment of multiple sclerosis, for which we initiated a two-year randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled multi-center Phase II

clinical trial in Eastern Europe in the third quarter of 2005 and announced positive clinical one-year results in March 2007;
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 •  MN-001 for the treatment of interstitial cystitis, for which we completed a Phase II/III clinical trial in the first quarter of 2007;
 

 
•  MN-029 for the treatment of solid tumors, for which we completed one Phase I clinical trial in the second quarter of 2006 and currently have one Phase

I clinical trial ongoing in the United States (three patients remain on extended treatment);
 

 
•  MN-305 for the treatment of Generalized Anxiety Disorder/insomnia, for which we completed a Phase II/III clinical trial for the treatment of

Generalized Anxiety Disorder in the second quarter of 2006 and completed enrollment of a separate Phase II clinical trial for the treatment of insomnia
in the second quarter of 2007;

 

 
•  MN-221 for the treatment of preterm labor, for which a Phase Ib clinical study to investigate the pharmacokinetic profile of MN-221 in healthy pregnant

women not in labor was completed in the second quarter of 2007;
 

 
•  MN-246 for the treatment of urinary incontinence, for which we completed a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, single escalating dose Phase

I clinical trial in the fourth quarter of 2006 and a Phase I food effects study in the first quarter of 2007;
 

 •  MN-447 for the treatment of thrombotic disorders, which is in preclinical development; and
 

 •  MN-462 for the treatment of thrombotic disorders, which is in preclinical development.

Effective November 24, 2006, our board of directors adopted our stockholder rights plan. On March 30, 2007, our stockholders ratified the stockholder
rights plan at our annual meeting of stockholders. Under the plan, we declared a dividend distribution of one “Right” for each outstanding share of our common
stock to stockholders of record at the close of business on December 11, 2006. Since that time, we have issued one Right with each newly issued share of
common stock. Each Right, when exercisable, entitles the holder to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series A Preferred Stock at a purchase
price of $77.00. In general, under the stockholder rights plan, if a person or affiliated group acquires beneficial ownership of 20% or more of our shares of
common stock, then each Right (other than those held by such acquiring person or affiliated group) will entitle the holder to receive, upon exercise, shares of
common stock (or, under certain circumstances, a combination of securities or other assets) having a value of twice the underlying purchase price of the Right. In
addition, if following the announcement of the existence of an acquiring person or affiliated group we are involved in a business combination or sale of 50% or
more of our assets or earning power, each Right (other than those held by the acquiring person or affiliated group) will entitle the holder to receive, upon exercise,
shares of common stock of the acquiring entity having a value of twice the underlying purchase price of the Right. The board of directors also has the right, after
an acquiring person or affiliated group is identified, to cause each Right to be exchanged for common stock or substitute consideration. We may redeem the
Rights at a price of $0.001 per Right prior to the identification of an acquiring person or affiliated group. The Rights expire on November 23, 2016.

On January 4, 2007, MediciNova Japan, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary, was incorporated under the laws of Japan. We established this subsidiary in
Tokyo, Japan to strengthen business development and investor and public relations activities in Japan and other Asian countries.

On January 16, 2007, we announced results of a Phase II/III clinical trial of MN-001 for the treatment of interstitial cystitis, or IC. Trial results indicated
that, while MN-001 was well-tolerated, it did not show a statistically significant clinical benefit compared to placebo on the primary endpoint (to be much or very
much improved overall on a patient-rated Global Response Assessment) at the doses tested in this trial (500 mg once or twice a day for eight weeks). Results from
this Phase II/III trial indicated that IC patients were more than twice as likely to respond on 500 mg of MN-001 administered twice a day compared to placebo
(25% compared to 12%, p=0.04) after four weeks of treatment. This difference, however, was not observed at eight weeks due to continued improvement among
placebo-treated patients. The response rate of patients treated with 500 mg of MN-001 once a day did not significantly differ from placebo at either four or eight
weeks.
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On January 22, 2007, we announced the initiation of a Phase II clinical study of MN-305 for the treatment of insomnia based on clinical observations of a
beneficial therapeutic effect on insomnia in patients with General Anxiety Disorder, or GAD. In a recently completed Phase II/III randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled clinical trial of MN-305 in 416 patients with GAD, a statistically significant improvement in the insomnia item of the Hamilton Anxiety
Rating Scale was observed in patients treated with 0.5 to 6 mg of MN-305 per day. To further test this clinical finding, we initiated a randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled, crossover dose-response Phase II clinical study to assess the safety and efficacy of MN-305 in patients with primary insomnia with sleep
maintenance difficulties. This study will assess the effects of three dosages of MN-305 (1 mg, 3 mg and 6 mg) and placebo, all administered orally approximately
60 minutes before bedtime in 97 subjects at approximately ten study centers in the United States.

On January 29, 2007, we announced a public offering of 1,000,000 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $12.00 per share. On February 1, 2007,
we completed the public offering and received aggregate proceeds of approximately $10.6 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and certain
other costs associated with the offering totaling $1.4 million.

On March 27, 2007, we announced one-year clinical results of a Phase II clinical trial of MN-166 that measures both surrogate (radiological) and clinical
outcomes over two years of treatment in 297 patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis, or MS. The randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial showed a
significant increase in the proportion of patients who remained relapse-free over the first 12 months of treatment with 60 mg per day of MN-166 compared to
placebo (p=0.03). The time to first relapse was also significantly increased in patients treated with 60 mg of MN-166 per day compared to placebo (p=0.04).
Positive trends were also observed in the annualized relapse rate (p=0.08) and number of relapses (p=0.10) among patients who completed the full first 12 months
of treatment with 60 mg of MN-166 per day compared to those patients completing the first 12 months of treatment on placebo. A significant reduction in brain
volume loss (p=0.04), as measured by cranial magnetic resonance imaging, or MRI, scans, was observed in patients treated with 60 mg per day of MN-166
compared to placebo. Loss of brain volume on MRI has been shown to correlate with clinical progression and disability in MS patients. Positive trends were also
observed in several other radiological outcome measures, including the volume of gadolinium-enhancing (T1) lesions (p=0.09) in patients treated with 60 mg of
MN-166 per day compared with placebo. However, no reduction in the cumulative number of active (gadolinium-enhancing (T1) and non-enhancing
new/enlarging (T2)) lesions on cranial MRI scans over 12 months of treatment was observed in patients treated with MN-166 compared to placebo, which was the
protocol-defined primary endpoint of the study. No clinical or radiological benefit was observed in patients treated with 30 mg per day of MN-166.

On June 26, 2007, we announced a strategic initiative to focus our resources on the development and commercialization of two key assets in our
development pipeline, MN-221 and MN-166. As part of this strategy, we discontinued clinical development of MN-001 in its current immediate-release
formulation to continue work on developing a once-a-day oral dosage form prior to initiating further Phase III clinical testing of MN-001 for the treatment of
bronchial asthma.

Revenues and Cost of Revenues

We have not generated any revenues from licensing, milestones or product sales to date, and we do not expect to generate any revenues from the
commercialization of our product candidates within the next 12 months. Our revenues to date have been generated from development management services under
master service agreements with Asahi Kasei Pharma Corporation and Argenes, Inc., pursuant to which we billed consulting fees and our pass-through clinical
contract costs. The primary cost associated with our revenue was the clinical contract costs we incurred and passed-through to our customer. Our agreement with
Asahi Kasei Pharma Corporation has been completed, and we terminated our agreement with Argenes, Inc. Therefore, we will not generate any further revenue
from these agreements over the next 12 months or thereafter.
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Research and Development

Our research and development expenses primarily consist of costs associated with the feasibility studies, licensing and pre-clinical and clinical
development of our eight licensed compounds. These research and development expenses include external costs, such as fees paid to consultants, contract
research organizations and other third parties, and internal costs of compensation and other expenses for research and development personnel, supplies, materials,
facility costs and depreciation.

To the extent that costs, including personnel costs, are not tracked to a specific product development program, such costs are included in the “Unallocated”
category in the table below. We charge all research and development expenses to operations as incurred.

The following table summarizes our research and development expenses for the periods indicated (in thousands):
 

Product
Candidate

  
Disease/ Indication

 
Three months ended

June 30,  
Six months ended

June 30,
   2007  2006  2007  2006

MN-001   Bronchial asthma  $ 8,087 $ 756 $15,062 $ 1,471
MN-001   Interstitial cystitis   82  1,157  173  2,264
MN-166   Multiple sclerosis   1,967  1,703  3,558  3,319
MN-305   Generalized Anxiety Disorder/insomnia   3,412  520  4,035  2,925
MN-221   Preterm labor   703  100  935  313
MN-221   Status asthmaticus   1,480  48  2,156  48
MN-029   Solid tumor   1,076  612  3,443  1,280
MN-246   Urinary incontinence   375  932  1,490  1,642
SOCC   Cancer; inflammatory diseases   —    —    —    25
MN-447   Thrombotic disorders   57  —    98  —  
MN-462   Thrombotic disorders   17  —    57  —  
Unallocated   599  680  1,053  974

              

Total research and development  $ 17,855 $ 6,508 $32,060 $14,261
              

Adhering to our strategy to focus investment on key assets such as MN-221 and MN-166, and in order to bring these assets substantially forward towards
commercialization, we will limit our expenditures on other development programs to only those activities necessary to maximize each product candidate’s value,
while aggressively pursuing a variety of initiatives to monetize such product candidates.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses primarily consist of salaries, benefits and consulting and professional fees related to our administrative, finance,
human resources, legal and information systems support functions. In addition, general and administrative expenses include facilities and insurance costs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related disclosure of contingent liabilities. We
review our estimates on an on-going basis, including those related to our significant accruals. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
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about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our critical accounting
policies and estimates are the same as those noted in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2007 and 2006

Revenues

There were no revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2007, a decrease of $0.1 million when compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2006. The decrease in revenues was due to a lack of activity under our master services agreement with Argenes, Inc. We have terminated our agreement
with Argenes, Inc. and therefore will not generate any further revenues from this agreement in fiscal year 2007 or thereafter.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2007 were $17.9 million, an increase of $11.4 million when compared to $6.5
million for the three months ended June 30, 2006. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to $7.3 million in development program
costs related to the advancement and announced termination of a Phase III clinical trial for MN-001 for the treatment of bronchial asthma, $3.4 million in
development program costs related to the advancement of a Phase II clinical trial for MN-305 for the treatment of insomnia and $2.9 million in development
program costs related to the advancement of our other development programs, primarily covering our programs for MN-221 for the treatment of status
asthmaticus and preterm labor, offset by $2.2 million related primarily to the completion of a Phase II clinical trial for MN-001 for the treatment of interstitial
cystitis and a Phase II clinical trial for MN-305 for the treatment of GAD.

We expect that fees paid to external service providers will increase as we continue development of our existing product candidates, primarily relating to the
management and conduct of clinical trials and the performance of data collection and analysis. In addition, we anticipate that our research and development
expenses will continue to increase in future periods as we expend additional capital to conduct clinical trials and develop our product candidates.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $3.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2007, an increase of $0.8 million when compared to $2.2
million for the three months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was primarily due to $0.1 million in increased administrative compensation (additional headcount
and salary increases), $0.6 million in increased stock-based compensation and $0.1 million in increased miscellaneous fees.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will continue to increase in future periods as we expand our infrastructure and incur additional
costs for insurance and professional and consulting fees associated with operating as a dual-listed public company and supporting the future growth of our
research and development programs and business development activities.

Interest Income

Interest income primarily consisted of income earned on our cash and investment balances and totaled $1.1 million for the three months ended June 30,
2007, a decrease of $0.4 million when compared to $1.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2006. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease of our
investment balances.
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Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2007 and 2006

Revenues

There were no revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2007, a decrease of $0.3 million when compared to $0.3 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2006. The decrease in revenues was due to a lack of activity under our master services agreement with Argenes, Inc. We have terminated our agreement
with Argenes, Inc. and therefore will not generate any further revenues from this agreement in fiscal year 2007 or thereafter.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2007 were $32.1 million, an increase of $17.8 million when compared to $14.3
million for the six months ended June 30, 2006. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to $13.6 million in development program
costs related to the advancement and announced termination of a Phase III clinical trial for MN-001 for the treatment of bronchial asthma, $3.7 million in
development program costs related to the advancement of a Phase II clinical trial for MN-305 for the treatment of insomnia and $3.1 million in development
program costs related to the advancement of our other development programs, primarily covering our programs for MN-029 for the treatment of solid tumors and
MN-221 for the treatment of status asthmaticus and preterm labor, offset by $2.6 million related to the completion of a Phase II clinical trial for MN-001 for the
treatment of interstitial cystitis and a Phase II clinical trial for MN-305 for the treatment of GAD.

We expect that fees paid to external service providers will increase as we continue development of our existing product candidates, primarily related to the
management and conduct of clinical trials and the performance of data collection and analysis. In addition, we anticipate that our research and development
expenses will continue to increase in future periods as we expend additional capital to conduct clinical trials and develop our product candidates.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses were $6.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007, an increase of $1.7 million when compared to $4.4 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2006. The increase was primarily due to $0.3 million in increased administrative compensation (additional headcount and
salary increases), $0.8 million in increased stock-based compensation and $0.6 million in increased fees (professional services and annual corporation fees)
related to operating as a dual-listed public company.

We anticipate that our general and administrative expenses will continue to increase in future periods as we expand our infrastructure and incur additional
costs for insurance and professional and consulting fees associated with operating as a dual-listed public company and supporting the future growth of our
research and development programs and business development activities.

Interest Income

Interest income primarily consisted of income earned on our cash and investment balances and totaled $2.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007,
a decrease of $0.5 million when compared to $2.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2006. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease of our
investment balances.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, our operations have been financed through the private placement of our equity securities, the public sale of our common stock and the
exercise of founders’ warrants, net of treasury stock
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repurchases. Through June 30, 2007, we received estimated net proceeds of $201.3 million from the sale of equity securities and warrant and stock option
exercises as follows:
 

 •  in September 2000, we issued and sold 50,000 shares of common stock to founders for aggregate proceeds of $0.1 million;
 

 •  in October 2000 and August 2001, we issued and sold 100,000 shares of Series A preferred stock for aggregate net proceeds of $10.0 million;
 

 •  from March 2003 through May 2004, we issued and sold 29,115 shares of Series B preferred stock for aggregate net proceeds of $26.8 million;
 

 •  on September 2, 2004, we issued and sold 2,766,785 shares of Series C preferred stock for aggregate net proceeds of $43.4 million;
 

 
•  on February 4, 2005, we completed an initial public offering, or IPO, of 3,000,000 million shares of common stock for proceeds of $104.5 million, net

of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses (including issuance costs for registration statements filed on behalf of restricted
stockholders through December 2005);

 

 
•  on March 8, 2005, we completed the sale of 157,300 shares of common stock for aggregate proceeds of $5.6 million, net of underwriting discounts and

commissions, as a result of the underwriters’ partial exercise of the over-allotment option we granted to them in connection with our IPO;
 

 
•  on March 2, 2006, we issued and sold 125,000 shares of common stock to a founder in exercise of warrants for aggregate proceeds of approximately

$0.1 million;
 

 
•  in August 2006, we issued and sold 150,000 shares of common stock to a founder in exercise of warrants and we issued 1,000 shares to a former

employee in exercise of stock options for aggregate proceeds of approximately $0.2 million; and
 

 
•  on February 1, 2007, we completed a public offering of 1,000,000 shares of common stock for aggregate proceeds of $10.6 million, net of underwriting

discounts and commissions and certain other costs associated with the offering.

At June 30, 2007, we had approximately $85.9 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities available for sale compared to $104.1 million at
December 31, 2006. We have invested a substantial portion of our available cash in high-grade auction rate securities, corporate debt securities and government
sponsored securities. We have adopted an investment policy and established guidelines relating to diversification and maturities of our investments to preserve
principal and maintain liquidity.

Net cash used in operating activities increased to $28.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2007 from $14.7 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2006. This increase was primarily due to the net loss of $35.7 million related to increased research and development expenses for our development
programs, termination costs related to our Phase III clinical trial of MN-001 for the treatment of bronchial asthma and increased general and administrative
expenses associated with such development programs. Net cash provided by investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2007 was $22.5 million and
primarily consisted of the maturity of marketable securities. Net cash provided by financing activities amounted to $10.6 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2007, due to the public offering of 1,000,000 shares of our common stock which was completed on February 1, 2007.

We have consumed substantial amounts of capital since our inception. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of
June 30, 2007 will be sufficient to fund our anticipated operating requirements through June 30, 2008. Although we believe that our existing capital resources will
be sufficient to fund our operating requirements through June 30, 2008, including all of our planned research and development programs, we may require
significant additional financing in the future to fund our operations.
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Our future capital requirements will depend on, and could increase significantly as a result of, many factors, including:
 

 •  progress in, and the costs of, our clinical trials and other research and development programs;
 

 •  the scope, prioritization and number of research and development programs;
 

 •  the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatory approvals;
 

 •  the costs involved in filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patent claims and other intellectual property rights;
 

 •  the costs of securing manufacturing arrangements for clinical or commercial production of our product candidates;
 

 
•  the costs of establishing, or contracting for, sales and marketing capabilities and commercialization activities if we obtain regulatory clearances to

market our product candidates; and
 

 •  the costs associated with litigation.

Until we can generate significant continuing revenues, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through strategic collaborations, private or public sales of
our securities, debt financings or licensing transactions, involving all or a portion of our product candidates, to the extent we are able to do so. We cannot be
certain that additional sources of capital will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If sources of capital are not available, we may not be in a position to
pursue present or future business opportunities that require financial commitments, and we may be required to delay, reduce the scope of or terminate one or more
of our product development programs or our commercialization efforts, curtail our efforts to acquire new product candidates or relinquish rights to our
technologies or product candidates.
 
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market and Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk as a result of changes in interest rates is primarily due to the increase or decrease in the amount of interest income we can earn
on our investment portfolio. Our risk associated with fluctuating interest rates is limited to our investments in interest-rate sensitive financial instruments. Under
our current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes. We attempt to increase the safety and
preservation of our invested principal funds by limiting default risk, market risk and reinvestment risk. We mitigate default risk by investing in investment grade
securities. A hypothetical 100 basis point adverse move in interest rates along the entire interest rate yield curve would not materially affect the fair value of our
interest sensitive financial instruments. Changes in interest rates over time will increase or decrease our interest income.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports pursuant to the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.
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Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures
as of the end of the quarter covered by this report. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

On April 30, 2007, a participant in one of our clinical trials filed a lawsuit against us, the clinical investigatory site where the individual participated in the
clinical trial and the chief investigator at such clinical investigatory site. The complaint alleges that the plaintiff’s daughter suffered permanent injuries in utero as
a result of the plaintiff’s participation in our clinical trial. We were served with the complaint on June 18, 2007. In the complaint, the plaintiff seeks damages,
legal fees and other relief deemed proper. The lawsuit is at its initial stages, and we are conducting our factual investigation. We believe that we have meritorious
defenses to the plaintiff’s claims and intend to defend the lawsuit vigorously; however, litigation is inherently uncertain, and we may not prevail in this matter.
While it is premature to determine the outcome of this matter, our insurance carrier has initially assumed defense of this lawsuit. As a result, we do not believe
that the lawsuit will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.

In addition, we may become involved in various disputes and legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of business. While it is not possible to
accurately predict or determine the outcome of these matters, an adverse result in any of these matters may occur which could harm our business. We are not
currently aware of any such claims or legal proceedings that we believe will have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition or operating
results.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

The following section describes certain risks and uncertainties that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and the market price of our common stock and may cause our actual results to differ materially from recent results or from anticipated future results.

Risks Related to Our Business

We expect our net losses to continue for at least several years, and we are unable to predict the extent of our future losses.

We are a development-stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. We have incurred significant net losses since our inception. For
the three months and six months ended June 30, 2007, we had a net loss of $19.8 million and $35.7 million, respectively, and our accumulated deficit was
approximately $191.8 million at June 30, 2007. Our annual net losses may increase over the next several years as we expand our infrastructure and incur
significant costs related to our product candidates.

We expect our research and development expenses to increase in connection with planned clinical trials for our product candidates and any other
development projects that we may initiate. In addition, we expect our general and administrative expenses to increase as a result of several factors, including our
research and development activities, our business development activities and the increased costs associated with operating as a dual-listed public company.
Consequently, we expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future.

We do not have any products that are approved for commercial sale and therefore do not expect to generate any revenues from product sales in the
foreseeable future, if ever.

We have not received, and do not expect to receive for at least the next several years, any revenues from the commercialization of our product candidates.
To date, we have not generated any product revenues and have funded our operations primarily from sales of our securities. Our only source of revenues since
inception has been from development management services rendered to Asahi Kasei Pharma Corporation and Argenes, Inc., both Japanese pharmaceutical
companies, in connection with their clinical development of pharmaceutical
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product candidates. We have completed our agreement with Asahi Kasei Pharma Corporation, and we terminated our agreement with Argenes, Inc. Therefore, we
will not generate any further revenues from these agreements. We anticipate that, prior to our commercialization of a product candidate, out-licensing upfront and
milestone payments will be our primary source of revenue. To obtain revenues from sales of our product candidates, we must succeed, either alone or with third
parties, in developing, obtaining regulatory approval for, manufacturing and marketing drugs with market potential. We may never succeed in these activities, and
we may not generate sufficient revenues to continue our business operations or achieve profitability.

The loss of any rights to develop and market any of our product candidates could significantly harm our business.

We license the rights to develop and market our product candidates. Currently, we have licensed rights relating to eight compounds for the development of
the following ten product candidates:
 

 •  MN-001 for bronchial asthma and interstitial cystitis licensed from Kyorin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.;
 

 •  MN-221 for status asthmaticus and preterm labor licensed from Kissei Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.;
 

 •  MN-166 for multiple sclerosis licensed from Kyorin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.;
 

 •  MN-029 for solid tumors licensed from Angiogene Pharmaceuticals, Ltd.;
 

 •  MN-305 for anxiety disorders/insomnia licensed from Mitsubishi Pharma Corporation;
 

 •  MN-246 for urinary incontinence licensed from Mitsubishi Pharma Corporation;
 

 •  MN-447 for thrombotic disorders licensed from Meiji Seika Kaisha, Ltd.; and
 

 •  MN-462 for thrombotic disorders licensed from Meiji Seika Kaisha, Ltd.

We are obligated to develop and commercialize these product candidates in accordance with mutually agreed upon terms and conditions. Our ability to
satisfy some or all of the terms and conditions of our licensing agreements is dependent on numerous factors, including some factors that are outside of our
control. Our license agreements may be terminated if we breach our obligations under the agreements materially and fail to cure any such breach within a
specified period of time.

If any of our license agreements is terminated, we would have no further rights to develop and commercialize the product candidate that is the subject of
the license. The termination of any of our license agreements would significantly and adversely affect our business.

In order to commercialize a therapeutic drug successfully, a product candidate must undergo clinical trials, which are long, complex and costly, manifest a
high risk of failure and can be delayed, suspended or terminated.

Eight of our product candidates are in clinical development, which is the process that is required to receive regulatory approval for commercial sale of a
product. Our two most recent product candidates are in preclinical development. The regulatory approval process is long, complex and costly. It may take several
years to complete the clinical development necessary to commercialize a drug, and delays or failure can occur at any stage, which may result in our inability to
market and sell any products derived from any of our product candidates. Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage result in the
submission of a New Drug Application, or NDA, to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, and even fewer are approved for commercialization.
Interim results of clinical trials do not necessarily predict final results, and success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical
trials will be successful. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials even after promising
results in earlier trials.
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In connection with clinical trials for each of our product candidates, we face many risks, including the risks that:
 

 •  a product candidate may not prove to be efficacious;
 

 •  patients may die or suffer other adverse effects for reasons that may or may not be related to the product candidate being tested;
 

 •  the results may not confirm the positive results of earlier trials;
 

 •  the FDA may not agree with our proposed development plans or accept the results of completed clinical studies; and
 

 
•  our planned clinical studies may be deemed by the FDA not to be sufficient, which would require additional development for the product candidate

before it can be successful in late stage clinical studies or before the FDA can consider the results from these studies as the basis for approval.

To date, we have regulatory approval to conduct clinical trials for eight of our product development programs. Investigational New Drug, or IND,
applications were approved and are active for seven product candidates. We also have Clinical Trial Authorizations, or CTAs, the equivalent of a U.S. IND,
approved and active to conduct a Phase II study for MN-166 in patients with multiple sclerosis in five countries in Eastern Europe and a CTA approved in Canada
to conduct a Phase I study for MN-246 in healthy subjects.

The commencement of clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of other reasons, including delays in:
 

 •  demonstrating sufficient safety to persuade regulatory authorities to allow a clinical trial to begin;
 

 •  reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations and clinical trial sites;
 

 •  manufacturing sufficient quantities of a product candidate;
 

 •  obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective site;
 

 •  obtaining approval of an IND from the FDA; and
 

 
•  obtaining sufficient patient enrollment, which is a function of many factors, including the size of the patient population, the nature of the protocol, the

proximity of patients to clinical sites, the availability of effective treatments for the relevant disease and the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial.

Once a clinical trial has begun, it may be delayed, suspended or terminated due to a number of factors, including:
 

 
•  ongoing discussions with regulatory authorities regarding the scope or design of our clinical trials or requests by them for supplemental information with

respect to our clinical trial results;
 

 •  our failure or inability to conduct clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements;
 

 •  lower than anticipated retention rates of patients in clinical trials;
 

 •  serious adverse events or side effects experienced by participants; or
 

 •  insufficient supply or deficient quality of product candidates or other materials necessary for the conduct of our clinical trials.

Many of the factors described above may also ultimately lead to denial of regulatory approval of a current or potential product candidate. If we do not
successfully complete clinical development of our product candidates, we will be unable to market and sell products derived from our drug candidates and to
generate revenues from such products. If we experience delays or suspensions in our clinical trials for a product candidate, the commercial prospects for such
product candidate will be harmed, we may incur increased costs for development of such product candidate, and our ability to generate revenues from such
product candidate will be delayed.
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If we fail to identify and license or acquire other product candidates, we will not be able to expand our business over the long term.

Given that we do not have internal discovery capabilities, our business over the long term is substantially dependent on our ability to license or acquire
product candidates and further develop them for commercialization. The success of this strategy depends upon our ability to identify, select and acquire the right
product candidates. We have limited experience identifying, negotiating and implementing economically viable product candidate acquisitions or licenses, which
is a lengthy and complex process. Also, the market for licensing and acquiring product candidates is intensely competitive, and many of our competitors have
greater resources than we do. We may not have the requisite capital resources to consummate product candidate acquisitions or licenses that we identify to fulfill
our strategy.

Moreover, product candidate acquisitions that we do complete involve numerous risks, including:
 

 •  difficulties in integrating the development program for the acquired product candidate into our existing operations;
 

 •  diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations;
 

 •  risks of entering new markets or technologies;
 

 •  inability to generate sufficient revenues to offset acquisition costs; and
 

 •  delays that may result from our having to perform unanticipated preclinical trials or other tests on the product candidate.

If we are not successful in identifying and licensing or acquiring other product candidates over the long term, we will not be able to grow our revenues with
sales from new products beyond those revenues, if any, from our existing product candidates, and we may fail to achieve or sustain profitability.

If we fail to obtain the capital necessary to fund our operations, we will be unable to develop and commercialize our product candidates.

We have consumed substantial amounts of capital since our inception. From our inception to June 30, 2007, we have an accumulated deficit of $191.8
million. For the six months ended June 30, 2007, we used approximately $28.8 million in net cash to fund our operating activities and additional cash to purchase
fixed assets. Our cash and marketable securities totaled approximately $85.9 million at June 30, 2007. Although we intend to manage our development programs
such that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of June 30, 2007 will be sufficient to meet our operating requirements through June 30,
2008 we may require significant additional financing to fund our operations thereafter. Our future capital requirements will depend on, and could increase
significantly as a result of, many factors including:
 

 •  progress in, and the costs of, our clinical trials and other research and development programs;
 

 •  the scope, prioritization and number of our research and development programs;
 

 •  the time and costs involved in obtaining regulatory approvals;
 

 •  the costs of securing manufacturing arrangements for clinical or commercial production of our product candidates;
 

 •  the costs associated with any litigation;
 

 •  the costs involved in filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and
 

 
•  the costs of establishing or contracting for sales and marketing capabilities and commercialization activities if we obtain regulatory approval to market

our product candidates.
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Until we can generate significant continuing revenues, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through strategic collaborations, private or public sales of
our securities, debt financings or licensing transactions, involving all or a portion of our product candidates, to the extent we are able to do so. We cannot be
certain that additional sources of capital will be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If sources of capital are not available, we may not be in a position to
pursue present or future business opportunities that require financial commitments and we may be required to:
 

 •  terminate or delay or reduce the scope of the product development program, including clinical trials, for one or more of our product candidates;
 

 •  delay establishing sales and marketing capabilities or other activities to commercialize a product candidate;
 

 •  curtail our efforts to acquire new product candidates; or
 

 •  relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates.

The terms under which we raise additional capital may harm our business and may significantly dilute stockholders’ ownership interests.

If we raise additional funds through collaborations or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may need to relinquish some rights to our product
candidates, including commercialization rights, which may harm our ability to generate revenues and achieve or sustain profitability. If we raise additional funds
by issuing equity securities, stockholders may experience substantial dilution. Debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that may impede our
ability to operate our business. Any debt financing or additional equity that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders.

We will depend on strategic collaborations with third parties to develop and commercialize selected product candidates and will not have control over a
number of key elements relating to the development and commercialization of these product candidates.

A key aspect of our strategy will be to seek collaborations with partners, such as large pharmaceutical organizations, that are willing to conduct later-stage
clinical trials and further develop and commercialize selected product candidates. To date, we have not entered into any such collaborative arrangements.

By entering into these strategic collaborations, we may rely on our partners for financial resources and for development, regulatory and commercialization
expertise. Our partners may fail to develop or effectively commercialize our product candidates because they:
 

 •  do not have sufficient resources or decide not to devote the necessary resources due to internal constraints such as limited cash or human resources;
 

 •  decide to pursue a competitive potential product developed outside of the collaboration;
 

 •  cannot obtain the necessary regulatory approvals;
 

 •  determine that the market opportunity is not attractive; or
 

 •  cannot manufacture the necessary materials in sufficient quantities from multiple sources or at a reasonable cost.

We may not be able to enter into collaborations on acceptable terms, if at all. We also face competition in our search for partners from other organizations
worldwide, many of whom are larger and are able to offer more attractive deals in terms of financial commitments, contribution of human resources, or
development, manufacturing, regulatory or commercial expertise and support.
 

26



Table of Contents

If we are not successful in attracting partners and entering into collaborations on acceptable terms, we may not be able to complete development of, or
commercialize one or more of, our product candidates. In such event, our ability to generate revenues and achieve or sustain profitability would be significantly
hindered.

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and perform data collection and analysis, which may result in costs and delays that may hamper our
ability to successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates.

Although we design and manage our current clinical trials, we do not have the ability to conduct clinical trials directly for our product candidates. We rely
on contract research organizations, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories to conduct our clinical trials and to perform data collection
and analysis. In the course of clinical development, we have contracted and will continue to contract with a number of these organizations, including: Accelsiors
CRO and Consultancy Services of Budapest, Hungary; Pharmaceutical Research Associates, Inc. of Lenexa, Kansas; Fulcrum Pharma Developments, Inc. of
Durham, North Carolina; Paragon, Inc. of Irvine, California; Quintiles, Inc. of Morrisville, North Carolina and SFBC International of Princeton, New Jersey.

Our clinical trials may be delayed, suspended or terminated if:
 

 •  the third parties upon whom we rely do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines;
 

 •  such third parties need to be replaced; or
 

 
•  the quality or accuracy of the data obtained by the third parties is compromised due to their failure to adhere to clinical protocols or regulatory

requirements or for other reasons.

Failure to perform by the third parties upon whom we rely may increase our development costs, delay our ability to obtain regulatory approval and prevent
the commercialization of our product candidates. While we believe that there are numerous alternative sources to provide these services, we might not be able to
enter into replacement arrangements without delays or additional expenditures if we were to seek such alternative sourses.

Our product candidates, if approved for sale, may not gain acceptance among physicians, patients and the medical community, thereby limiting our potential
to generate revenues.

Even if our product candidates are approved for commercial sale by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, the degree of market acceptance of any
approved product candidate by physicians, healthcare professionals and third-party payors, and our profitability and growth will depend on a number of factors,
including:
 

 •  relative convenience and ease of administration;
 

 •  the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects;
 

 •  availability and cost of alternative treatments, including cheaper generic drugs;
 

 •  pricing and cost effectiveness, which may be subject to regulatory control;
 

 •  effectiveness of our or any of our partners’ sales and marketing strategies; and
 

 •  the availability of adequate third-party insurance coverage or reimbursement.

If any product candidate that we develop does not provide a treatment regimen that is as beneficial as the current standard of care or otherwise does not
provide patient benefit, that product candidate, if approved for commercial sale by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, likely will not achieve market
acceptance and our ability to generate revenues from that product candidate would be substantially reduced.
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If our products are not accepted by the market or if users of our products are unable to obtain adequate coverage of and reimbursement for our products
from government and other third-party payors, our revenues and profitability will suffer.

Our ability to commercialize our products successfully will depend in significant part on the extent to which appropriate coverage of and reimbursement
for our products and related treatments are obtained from governmental authorities, private health insurers and other organizations, such as health maintenance
organizations, or HMOs. Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. We cannot provide any assurances
that third-party payors will consider our products cost-effective or provide coverage of and reimbursement for our products, in whole or in part.

Uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of newly approved medical products and services and newly approved indications for
existing products. Third-party payors may conclude that our products are less safe, less clinically effective, or less cost-effective than existing products, and third-
party payors may not approve our products for coverage and reimbursement. If we are unable to obtain adequate coverage of and reimbursement for our products
from third-party payors, physicians may limit how much or under what circumstances they will prescribe or administer them. Such reduction or limitation in the
use of our products could cause our sales to suffer. Even if third-party payors make reimbursement available, payment levels may not be sufficient to make the
sale of our products profitable.

Also, the trend towards managed health care in the United States and the concurrent growth of organizations such as HMOs, which could control or
significantly influence the purchase of medical services and products, may result in inadequate coverage of and reimbursement for our products. Many third-party
payors, including in particular HMOs, are pursuing various ways to reduce pharmaceutical costs, including, for instance, the use of formularies. The market for
our products depends on access to such formularies, which are lists of medications for which third-party payors provide reimbursement. These formularies are
increasingly restricted, and pharmaceutical companies face significant competition in their efforts to place their products on formularies of HMOs and other third-
party payors. This increased competition has led to a downward pricing pressure in the industry. The cost containment measures that third-party payors are
instituting could have a material adverse effect on our ability to operate profitably.

We are dependent on our management team, particularly Yuichi Iwaki, M.D., Ph.D., and if we are unable to attract, retain and motivate Dr. Iwaki and other
key management and scientific staff, our drug development programs may be delayed and we may be unable to develop successfully or commercialize our
product candidates.

We are dependent upon the continued services of our executive officers and other key personnel, particularly Yuichi Iwaki, M.D., Ph.D., a founder of the
company and our President and Chief Executive Officer, who has been instrumental in our ability to in-license product candidates from Japanese pharmaceutical
companies and secure financing from Japanese institutions. The relationships that certain of our key managers have cultivated with pharmaceutical companies
from whom we license product candidates and to whom we expect to out-license product candidates make us particularly dependent upon their continued
employment with us. We are also substantially dependent on the continued services of our existing project management personnel because of the highly technical
nature of our product development programs.

If and when we acquire or license new product candidates, our success will depend on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified
management and scientific personnel to manage the development of these new product candidates. In particular, our drug development programs depend on our
ability to attract and retain highly experienced development and regulatory personnel. In addition, we may need to hire additional personnel as we continue to
expand our clinical development and other development activities. We face competition for experienced scientists and other technical and professional personnel
from numerous companies and academic and other research institutions. Competition for qualified personnel is particularly intense in the San Diego,
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California area, where our offices are located. Our short operating history and the uncertainties attendant to being a development-stage biopharmaceutical
company could impair our ability to attract and retain personnel and impede the achievement of our development and commercialization objectives.

Although we have employment agreements with key members of management, each of our employees, subject to applicable notice requirements, may
terminate his or her employment at any time. We do not carry “key person” insurance covering members of senior management. If we lose any of our key
management personnel, we may not be able to find suitable replacements and our business would be harmed.

If we are unable to establish our sales and distribution capabilities, we will be unable to successfully commercialize our product candidates.

To date, we have not sold, marketed or distributed any pharmaceutical products. If we are successful in developing and obtaining regulatory approvals for
any of the product candidates in our development programs or acquire other products, we may need to establish sales, marketing and distribution capabilities on
our own or with partners. The development of an effective sales and marketing force will require a significant amount of our financial resources and time. We
may be unable to establish and manage an effective sales force in a timely or cost-effective manner, if at all, and any sales force we do establish may not be
capable of generating demand for our products, therefore hindering our ability to generate revenues and achieve or sustain profitability. Although we intend to
establish strategic collaborations to market the products in our programs outside the United States, we may be required to market our product candidates outside
of the United States directly if we are unable to establish such collaborations. In that event, we may need to build a corresponding international sales and
marketing capability with technical expertise and with supporting distribution capabilities.

We will need to increase the size of our organization, and we may encounter difficulties managing our growth, which could adversely affect our results of
operations.

We will need to expand and effectively manage our staff, operations and facilities in order to advance our drug development programs, achieve milestones
under any collaboration agreements, facilitate additional collaborations and pursue other development activities. For example, we may hire additional personnel
in clinical development, regulatory affairs and business development to further strengthen our core competencies.

Similarly, we are likely to hire additional management and administrative personnel to manage our business and affairs as we continue to grow. In addition,
we may choose to develop sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for the product candidates in our programs. The scope and timing of these hires is highly
uncertain and remains subject to the success of our current product development programs.

To manage our growth, we will be required to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures
and to attract and retain sufficient numbers of talented employees. Meeting our public reporting obligations and other regulatory requirements in the United States
and Japan places additional demands on our limited resources. We may not successfully manage the expansion of our operations and, accordingly, may not
achieve our development and commercialization goals.

We expect that our results of operations will fluctuate, which may make it difficult to predict our future performance from period to period.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to continue to do so in the future. Some of the factors that could cause our
operating results to fluctuate from period to period include:
 

 •  the status of development of our product candidates and, particularly, the timing of any milestone payments to be paid under our licensing agreements;
 

 •  the incurrence of preclinical or clinical expenses that could fluctuate significantly from period to period;
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 •  the unpredictable effects of collaborations during these periods;
 

 •  the timing of our satisfaction of applicable regulatory requirements, if at all;
 

 •  the rate of expansion of our clinical development and other internal research and development efforts;
 

 •  the costs of any litigation;
 

 •  the effect of competing technologies and products and market developments; and
 

 •  general and industry-specific economic conditions.

We believe that quarterly or yearly comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as indications of our
future performance.

Relying on third-party manufacturers may result in delays in our clinical trials and product introductions as well as increased costs.

We have no manufacturing facilities, and we do not intend to develop facilities for the manufacture of product candidates for clinical trials or commercial
purposes in the foreseeable future. We contract with third-party manufacturers to produce, in collaboration with us, sufficient quantities of our product candidates
for clinical trials. While we believe that there are competitive sources available to manufacture our product candidates, we may not be able to enter into
arrangements without delays or additional expenditures. We cannot estimate these delays or costs with certainty. To date, these manufacturers have met the
requirements of our product development programs; however, we have only required the manufacture of our product candidates in very limited volume because
we do not have any commercialized products.

Our manufacturers are obligated to operate in accordance with FDA-mandated or International Convention on Harmonization, or ICH, current good
manufacturing practices, or cGMPs. A failure of any of our contract manufacturers to establish and follow cGMPs and to document their adherence to such
practices may lead to significant delays in clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approval of product candidates or the ultimate launch of our products into the
market. In addition, changing contract manufacturers is difficult. For example, doing so requires re-validation of the manufacturing processes and procedures in
accordance with cGMPs, which may be costly and time-consuming and, in some cases. our manufacturers may not provide us with adequate assistance to transfer
the manufacturing processes and procedures for our products to new manufacturers or may possess intellectual property rights covering parts of these processes or
procedures for which we may need to obtain a license. Failure by our third-party manufacturers or us to comply with applicable regulations could result in
sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of the government to grant pre-market approval of drugs, delays, suspension or
withdrawal of approvals, seizures or recalls of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions.

We may not be able to manufacture our product candidates in commercial quantities, which would prevent us from commercializing our product candidates.

To date, our product candidates have been manufactured in small quantities for preclinical and clinical trials. If any of these product candidates are
approved by the FDA or other regulatory agencies for commercial sale, we will need to manufacture them in larger quantities. We may not be able to increase
successfully the manufacturing capacity, whether in collaboration with third-party manufacturers or on our own, for any of our product candidates in a timely or
economic manner, or at all. Significant scale-up of manufacturing may require additional validation studies, which the FDA must review and approve. If we are
unable to increase successfully the manufacturing capacity for a product candidate, the regulatory approval or commercial launch of that product candidate may
be delayed or there may be a shortage in supply. Our product candidates require precise, high quality manufacturing. Our failure to achieve and maintain these
high manufacturing standards, including the incidence of manufacturing errors, could result in patient injury or death, product recalls or withdrawals, delays or
failures in product testing or delivery, cost overruns or other problems that could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Materials necessary to manufacture our products may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, which may delay the development and
commercialization of our products.

We rely on the manufacturers for our products to purchase from third-party suppliers the materials necessary to produce the compounds for our clinical
trials, and we rely on such manufacturers to purchase such materials to produce the compounds for commercial distribution, if we obtain marketing approval for
any of our product candidates. Suppliers may not sell these materials to our manufacturers at the time we need them or on commercially reasonable terms, if at
all. We do not have any control over the process or timing of the acquisition of these materials by our manufacturers. Moreover, we currently do not have any
agreements for the production of these materials. If our manufacturers are unable to obtain these materials for our clinical trials, product testing and potential
regulatory approval of our products would be delayed, significantly impacting our ability to develop the product candidate. If our manufacturers or we are unable
to purchase these materials after regulatory approval has been obtained for one of our products, the commercial launch of such product would be delayed or there
would be a shortage in supply of such product, which would harm our ability to generate revenues and achieve or sustain profitability.

Our management has broad discretion over the use of our cash and we may not use our cash effectively, which could adversely affect our results of
operations.

Our management has significant flexibility in applying our cash resources and could use these resources for corporate purposes that do not increase our
market value or in ways with which our stockholders may not agree. We may use our cash resources for corporate purposes that do not yield a significant return
or any return at all for our stockholders, which may cause our stock price to decline.

We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, increased costs and risks as a result of being a public company, particularly in the context of recently
enacted and proposed changes in laws and regulations relating to corporate governance and other matters.

As a public company, we are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or SOX, as well as rules and regulations implemented by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and the Nasdaq Global Market. Recently enacted and proposed changes in the laws and regulations affecting
public companies, including the provisions of SOX and rules adopted or proposed by the SEC and by The Nasdaq Global Market, have resulted in, and will
continue to result in, increased costs to us as we evaluate the implications of these rules and respond to their requirements. We issued an evaluation of our internal
control over financial reporting under Section 404 of SOX with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, the preparations for
which resulted in increased costs to us, which may continue to be reflected in our costs of operations. Given the risks inherent in the design and operation of
internal controls over financial reporting, the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting is uncertain. If our internal controls are not designed or
operating effectively, we may not be able to issue an evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting as required or we or our independent registered
public accounting firm may determine that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective. In addition, our registered public accounting firm may
either disclaim an opinion as it relates to management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls or may issue an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. Investors may lose confidence in the reliability of our consolidated financial statements, which
could cause the market price of our common stock to decline and which could affect our ability to run our business as we otherwise would like to. New rules
could also make it more difficult or more costly for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, and we may be
forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the coverage that is the same or similar to our current coverage.
The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees,
and as executive officers. We cannot predict or estimate the total amount of the costs we may incur or the timing of such costs to comply with these rules and
regulations.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our ability to compete may decline if we do not adequately protect our proprietary rights.

There is the risk that our patents may not provide a competitive advantage, including the risk that our patents expire before we obtain regulatory and
marketing approval for one or more of our product candidates. Our competitors may develop products similar to ours using methods and technologies that are
beyond the scope of our intellectual property rights. Composition of matter patents on active pharmaceutical ingredients may provide protection for
pharmaceutical products without regard to formulation, method of use, or other type of limitation. For some of our product candidates,, patent protection is no
longer available for the active pharmaceutical ingredients in such product candidates without regard to specific formulation or method of use. As a result,
competitors that obtain the requisite regulatory approval will be able to offer products with the same active ingredient as found in some of our products so long as
the competitors do not infringe any method of use, method of manufacture or formulation patents that we hold or have exclusive rights to through our licensors.

For our licensed patents, it is our policy to consult with our licensors in the maintenance of granted patents we have licensed, and in their pursuit of patent
applications that we have licensed, but each of our licensors generally remains primarily responsible for or in control of the maintenance of the granted patents
and prosecution of the applications. We have limited control, if any, over the amount or timing of resources that each licensor devotes on our behalf, and they may
not assign as great a priority to prosecution of these patent applications as we would if we were undertaking such prosecution ourselves. As a result of this lack of
control and general uncertainties in the patent prosecution process, we cannot be sure that our licensed patents will be maintained and that any additional patents
will ever mature from our licensed applications. Issued U.S. patents require the payment of maintenance fees to continue to be in force. We typically rely on our
licensors to do this and their failure to do so could result in the forfeiture of patents not timely maintained. Many foreign patent offices also require the payment
of periodic annuities to keep patents and patent applications in good standing. As we generally do not maintain control over the payment of annuities, we cannot
assure you that our licensors will timely pay such annuities and that the granted patents and pending patent applications will not become abandoned. As an
example, it appears that certain annuities were not paid in a timely manner with respect to foreign patents licensed under our MN-002 program. In addition, our
licensors may have selected a limited amount of foreign patent protection, and therefore applications have not been filed in, and foreign patents may not have
been perfected in, all commercially significant countries.

The patent protection of our product candidates and technology involves complex legal and factual questions. Most of our license agreements give us a
right, but not an obligation, to enforce our patent rights. To the extent it is necessary or advantageous for any of our licensors’ cooperation in the enforcement of
our patent rights, we cannot control the amount or timing of resources our licensors devote on our behalf or the priority they place on enforcing our patent rights.
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights against third party infringement, which may be difficult to detect, especially for infringement of
patent claims for methods of manufacturing. Additionally, challenges may be made to the ownership of our intellectual property rights, our ability to enforce
them, or our underlying licenses, which in some cases have been made under foreign laws and may provide different protections than that of U.S. law.

We cannot be certain that any of the patents or patent applications owned by us or our licensors related to our product candidates and technology will
provide adequate protection from competing products. Our success will depend, in part, on whether we or our licensors can:
 

 •  obtain and maintain patents to protect our product candidates;
 

 •  obtain and maintain any required or desirable licenses to use certain technologies of third parties, which may be protected by patents;
 

 •  protect our trade secrets and know-how;
 

 •  operate without infringing the intellectual property and proprietary rights of others;
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 •  enforce the issued patents under which we hold rights; and
 

 •  develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain. For example:
 

 •  we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications or issued patents;
 

 •  we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;
 

 •  others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;
 

 •  it is possible that none of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents;
 

 
•  any patents under which we hold rights may not provide us with a basis for commercially viable products, may not provide us with any competitive

advantages or may be challenged by third parties as invalid, or unenforceable under U.S. or foreign laws; or
 

 •  any of the issued patents under which we hold rights may not be valid or enforceable or may be circumvented successfully.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and other proprietary information and may
not adequately protect our intellectual property, which could limit our ability to compete.

Because we operate in the highly technical field of research and development of small molecule drugs, we rely in part on trade secret protection in order to
protect our proprietary trade secrets and unpatented know-how. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect, and we cannot be certain that others will not
develop the same or similar technologies on their own. We have taken steps, including entering into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants,
outside scientific collaborators, sponsored researchers and other advisors, to protect our trade secrets and unpatented know-how. These agreements generally
require that the other party keep confidential and not disclose to third parties all confidential information developed by the party or made known to the party by us
during the course of the party’s relationship with us. We also typically obtain agreements from these parties which provide that inventions conceived by the party
in the course of rendering services to us will be our exclusive property. However, these agreements may not be honored and may not effectively assign intellectual
property rights to us. Further, we have limited control, if any, over the protection of trade secrets developed by our licensors. Enforcing a claim that a party
illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets or know-how is difficult, expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts
outside the United States may be less willing to protect trade secrets or know-how. The failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect
our competitive position.

A dispute concerning the infringement or misappropriation of our proprietary rights or the proprietary rights of others could be time consuming and costly,
and an unfavorable outcome could harm our business.

There is significant litigation in our industry regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. While we are not currently subject to any pending
intellectual property litigation, and are not aware of any such threatened litigation, we may be exposed to future litigation by third parties based on claims that our
product candidates, their methods of use, manufacturing or other technologies or activities infringe the intellectual property rights of such third parties. There are
many patents relating to chemical compounds and methods of use. If our compounds or their methods of use or manufacture are found to infringe any such
patents, we may have to pay significant damages or seek licenses under such patents. We have not conducted comprehensive searches of patents issued to third
parties relating to our product candidates. Consequently, no assurance can be given that third-party patents containing claims covering our product candidates,
their methods of use or manufacture do
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not exist, have not been filed and issued in the future. Because some patent applications in the United States may be maintained in secrecy until the patents are
issued, and because patent applications in the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, we cannot be
certain that others have not filed patent applications that will mature into issued patents that relate to our current or future product candidates that could have a
material effect in developing and commercializing one or more of our product candidates. A patent holder could prevent us from importing, making, using or
selling the patented compounds. We may need to resort to litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the scope and validity of third-party
proprietary rights. Similarly, we may be subject to claims that we have inappropriately used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of third
parties. If we become involved in litigation, it could consume a substantial portion of our managerial and financial resources, regardless of whether we win or
lose. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex intellectual property litigation more effectively than we can because they have
substantially greater resources. We may not be able to afford the costs of litigation. Any legal action against us or our collaborators could lead to:
 

 
•  payment of actual damages, royalties, lost profits, potentially treble damages and attorneys’ fees, if we are found to have willfully infringed a third

party’s patent rights;
 

 •  injunctive or other equitable relief that may effectively block our ability to further develop, commercialize and sell our products;
 

 •  we or our collaborators having to enter into license arrangements that may not be available on commercially acceptable terms if at all; or
 

 •  significant cost and expense, as well as distraction of our management from our business.

As a result, we could be prevented from commercializing current or future product candidates.

Risks Related to Our Industry

We are subject to stringent regulation of our product candidates, which could delay the development and commercialization of our product candidates.

We, our third-party manufacturers, contractors, suppliers and partners, and our product candidates are subject to stringent regulation by the FDA and other
regulatory agencies in the United States and by comparable authorities in other countries. None of our product candidates can be marketed in the United States
until it has completed rigorous preclinical testing and clinical trials and an extensive regulatory clearance process implemented by the FDA. None of our product
candidates has been approved, and we may never receive FDA approval for any of our product candidates. Obtaining FDA approval typically takes many years
and requires substantial resources. Even if regulatory approval is obtained, the FDA may impose significant restrictions on the indicated uses, conditions for use
and labeling of such products. Additionally, the FDA may require post-approval studies, including additional research and development and clinical trials. These
regulatory requirements may limit the size of the market for the product or result in the incurrence of additional costs. Any delay or failure in obtaining required
approvals could substantially reduce our ability to generate revenues from the particular product candidate.

In addition, both before and after regulatory approval, we, our partners and our product candidates are subject to numerous FDA requirements covering,
among other things, testing, manufacturing, quality control, labeling, advertising, promotion, distribution and export. The FDA’s requirements may change and
additional government regulations may be promulgated that could affect us, our partners and our product candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or
extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or abroad.

In order to market any of our products outside of the United States, we and our strategic partners and licensees must establish and comply with numerous
and varying regulatory requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional
product testing and additional administrative review periods and the time required to obtain approval in other countries
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might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries may include all of the risks detailed above regarding
FDA approval in the United States. Approval by the FDA does not automatically lead to the approval of authorities outside of the United States and, similarly,
approval by other regulatory authorities outside the United States will not automatically lead to FDA approval. In addition, regulatory approval in one country
does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may negatively impact the regulatory
process in others. Our product candidate may not be approved for all indications that we request, which would limit the uses of our product and adversely impact
our potential royalties and product sales. Such approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or require
costly, post-marketing follow-up studies.

If we fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements in the United States and other countries, among other things, we may be subject to fines and
other civil penalties, delays in approving or failure to approve a product, suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products,
operating restrictions, interruption of manufacturing or clinical trials, injunctions and criminal prosecution, any of which would harm our business.

We may need to change our business practices to comply with health care fraud and abuse regulations, and our failure to comply with such laws could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are successful in achieving approval to market one or more of our product candidates, our operations will be directly, or indirectly through our
customers, subject to various state and federal fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and False Claims Act. These
laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales, marketing and education programs.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing remuneration, directly or
indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either the referral of an individual, or the furnishing or arranging for a good or service, for which payment may be made
under a federal healthcare program such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Several courts have interpreted the statute’s intent requirement to mean that if
any one purpose of an arrangement involving remuneration is to induce referrals of federal healthcare covered business, the statute has been violated. The Anti-
Kickback Statute is broad and prohibits many arrangements and practices that are lawful in businesses outside of the healthcare industry. Recognizing that the
Anti-Kickback Statute is broad and may technically prohibit many innocuous or beneficial arrangements, Congress authorized the Department of Health and
Human Services, Office of Inspector General, or OIG, to issue a series of regulations, known as the “safe harbors.” These safe harbors set forth provisions that, if
all their applicable requirements are met, will assure healthcare providers and other parties that they will not be prosecuted under the Anti-Kickback Statute. The
failure of a transaction or arrangement to fit precisely within one or more safe harbors does not necessarily mean that it is illegal or that prosecution will be
pursued. However, conduct and business arrangements that do not fully satisfy each applicable safe harbor may result in increased scrutiny by government
enforcement authorities such as the OIG. Penalties for violations of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute include criminal penalties and civil sanctions such as fines,
imprisonment and possible exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs. Many states have also adopted laws similar to the federal
Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the referral of patients for healthcare items or services reimbursed by any source, not only the Medicare and
Medicaid programs.

The federal False Claims Act prohibits persons from knowingly filing or causing to be filed a false claim to, or the knowing use of false statements to
obtain payment from, the federal government. Suits filed under the False Claims Act, known as “qui tam” actions, can be brought by any individual on behalf of
the government and such individuals, sometimes known as “relators” or, more commonly, as “whistleblowers,” may share in any amounts paid by the entity to the
government in fines or settlement. The frequency of filing of qui tam actions has increased significantly in recent years, causing greater numbers of healthcare
companies to have to defend a False Claims Act action. When an entity is determined to have violated the federal False Claims Act, it may be
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required to pay up to three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus civil penalties between $5,500 to $11,000 for each separate false claim.
Various states have also enacted laws modeled after the federal False Claims Act.

In addition to the laws described above, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 created two new federal crimes: healthcare fraud
and false statements relating to healthcare matters. The healthcare fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare
benefit program, including private payors. A violation of this statute is a felony and may result in fines, imprisonment or exclusion from government sponsored
programs. The false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false,
fictitious or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. A violation of this statute is a felony and
may result in fines or imprisonment.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above and other applicable state and federal fraud and abuse laws, we may be
subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from government healthcare programs, and the curtailment or restructuring
of our operations.

If our competitors develop and market products that are more effective than our product candidates, they may reduce or eliminate our commercial
opportunities.

Competition in the pharmaceutical industry is intense, and we expect such competition to continue to increase. We face competition from pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies, as well as numerous academic and research institutions and governmental agencies, in the United States and abroad. Some of these
competitors have products or are pursuing the development of drugs that target the same diseases and conditions that are the focus of our product development
programs.

Our competitors have products that have been approved or are in advanced development and may succeed in developing drugs that are more effective, safer
and more affordable or more easily administered than ours, or that achieve patent protection or commercialization sooner than our products. Our competitors may
also develop alternative therapies that could further limit the market for any products that we may develop.

In many of our target disease areas, potential competitors are working to develop new compounds with different mechanisms of action and attractive
efficacy and safety profiles. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, human and research and development resources, manufacturing, sales
and marketing capabilities and production facilities than we do. Smaller companies also may prove to be significant competitors, particularly through proprietary
research discoveries and collaboration arrangements with large pharmaceutical and established biotechnology companies.

Rapid technological change could make our products obsolete.

Biopharmaceutical technologies have undergone rapid and significant change, and we expect that they will continue to do so. As a result, there is
significant risk that our current product candidates may be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by new discoveries before we recover any expenses incurred in
connection with their development. If our product candidates are rendered obsolete by advancements in biopharmaceutical technologies, our future prospects will
suffer.

Consumers may sue us for product liability, which could result in substantial liabilities that exceed our available resources and damage our reputation.

Developing and commercializing drug products entails significant product liability risks. Liability claims may arise from our and our collaborators’ use of
products in clinical trials and the commercial sale of those products.
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Consumers may make product liability claims directly against us and/or our collaborators, and our collaborators or others selling these products may seek
contribution from us if they incur any loss or expenses related to such claims. We currently have insurance that covers our clinical trials. We believe our current
insurance coverage is reasonably adequate at this time. However, we will need to increase and expand this coverage as we commence additional clinical trials, as
well as larger scale trials, and if our product candidates are approved for commercial sale. This insurance may be prohibitively expensive or may not fully cover
our potential liabilities. Our inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at an acceptable cost or otherwise to protect against potential product liability claims
could prevent or inhibit the regulatory approval or commercialization of products that we or one of our collaborators develop. Product liability claims could have
a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Liability from such claims could exceed our total assets if we do not prevail in any lawsuit
brought by a third party alleging that an injury was caused by one or more of our products.

Health care reform measures could adversely affect our business.

The business and financial condition of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are affected by the efforts of governmental and third-party payers to
contain or reduce the costs of health care. In the United States and in foreign jurisdictions, there have been, and we expect that there will continue to be, a number
of legislative and regulatory proposals aimed at changing the health care system. For example, in some countries other than the United States, pricing of
prescription drugs is subject to government control, and we expect proposals to implement similar controls in the United States to continue. Another example of
proposed reform that could affect our business is the current discussion of drug reimportation into the United States. In 2000, Congress directed the FDA to adopt
regulations allowing the reimportation of approved drugs originally manufactured in the United States back into the United States from other countries where the
drugs were sold at lower prices. Although the Secretary of Health and Human Services has refused to implement this directive, the House of Representatives
passed a similar bill that does not require the Secretary of Health and Human Services to act in July 2003. The reimportation bills have not yet resulted in any new
laws or regulations; however, these and other initiatives could decrease the price we or any potential collaborators receive for our product candidates once they
are approved for sale, adversely affecting our future revenue growth and potential profitability. Moreover, the pendency or approval of such proposals could result
in a decrease in our stock price or our ability to raise capital or to obtain strategic partnerships or licenses.

Risks Related to the Market for our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to resell our shares at a profit or at all.

Prior to our listing on the Nasdaq Global Market on December 7, 2006, there was no active trading market for our common stock in the United States, as
our common stock had only been listed on the Osaka Securities Exchange in Japan. Despite the listing of our common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market in
December 2006, trading volume on the Nasdaq Global Market has been light and an active trading market may not develop for our common stock.

The market prices for securities of biopharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, and early-stage drug discovery and development companies like us in
particular, have historically been highly volatile and may continue to be highly volatile in the future. For example, since the date of our initial public offering in
Japan through June 30, 2007, our stock has traded as high as approximately $42.00 and as low as approximately $7.25. The following factors, in addition to other
risk factors described in this section, may have a significant impact on the market price of our common stock:
 

 
•  the development status of our drug candidates, including clinical study results and determinations by regulatory authorities with respect to our drug

candidates;
 

 •  the initiation, termination, or reduction in the scope of any collaboration arrangements or any disputes or developments regarding such collaborations;
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 •  announcements of technological innovations, new commercial products or other material events by our competitors or us;
 

 •  disputes or other developments concerning our proprietary rights;
 

 •  changes in, or failure to meet, securities analysts’ or investors’ expectations of our financial performance;
 

 •  additions or departures of key personnel;
 

 
•  discussions of our business, products, financial performance, prospects or stock price by the financial and scientific press and online investor

communities;
 

 
•  public concern as to, and legislative action with respect to, the pricing and availability of prescription drugs or the safety of drugs and drug delivery

techniques; or
 

 •  regulatory developments in the United States and in foreign countries.

Broad market and industry factors, as well as economic and political factors, also may materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In
the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against
that company. We may become subject to this type of litigation, which is often extremely expensive and diverts management’s attention.

If the holders of the shares purchased prior to our initial public offering were to determine to sell all or a significant portion of their shares at one time, there
would be significant downward pressure on our stock price and it may be difficult to sell your shares.

On September 19, 2005, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 to register 6,733,536 shares of common stock for resale from time to time, which
registration statement was subsequently declared effective by the SEC. The registered shares were beneficially owned by 47 holders. On November 23, 2005, we
filed a Registration Statement on Form S-1 to register 1,335,657 shares issuable upon the exercise of warrants held by three parties, of which warrants held by our
two founders that relate to 1,285,657 shares were exercisable at $1.00 per share and a warrant held by a separate investor that relates to 50,000 shares was
exercisable at $10.00 per share. At June 30, 2007, there were 417,828 warrants outstanding. All of such shares, other than shares held by Dr. Iwaki, may also be
sold from time to time in exempt transactions pursuant to Rule 144(k) promulgated by the SEC. The trading volume for our stock is low, with an average trading
volume of approximately 6,271 shares per day on the Hercules Market of the Osaka Securities Exchange and 13,705 shares per day on the Nasdaq Global Market
during the month of June 2007. If the holders of such shares, to the extent such shares have not been sold already, were to attempt immediately to sell their shares,
there would be significant downward pressure on our stock price and it may be difficult, or even impossible, to find a buyer for shares of our common stock. The
warrants held by our founders expire in 2007, and the warrant held by a separate investor expires in 2009. If the foregoing warrants are exercised, our
stockholders will experience immediate and substantial dilution.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law may make an acquisition of us more complicated and the removal and
replacement of our directors and management more difficult.

Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws contain provisions that may delay or prevent a change in control, discourage
bids at a premium over the market price of our common stock or adversely affect the market price of our common stock and the voting and other rights of the
holders of our common stock. These provisions may also make it difficult for stockholders to remove and replace our board of directors and management. These
provisions:
 

 
•  establish that members of the board of directors may be removed only for cause upon the affirmative vote of stockholders owning at least a majority of

our capital stock;
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•  authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors in a discriminatory fashion designed to increase

the number of outstanding shares and prevent or delay a takeover attempt;
 

 •  limit who may call a special meeting of stockholders;
 

 
•  establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at

stockholder meetings;
 

 
•  prohibit our stockholders from making certain changes to our restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws except with 66 2/3%

stockholder approval; and
 

 •  provide for a classified board of directors with staggered terms.

Effective November 24, 2006, our board of directors adopted our stockholder rights plan. On March 30, 2007 our stockholders ratified the plan at our
annual meeting of stockholders. Under the plan, we declared a dividend distribution of one “Right” for each outstanding share of our common stock to
stockholders of record at the close of business on December 11, 2006. Since that time, we have issued one Right with each newly issued share of common stock.
Each Right, when exercisable, entitles the holder to purchase from us one one-thousandth of a share of our Series A Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $77.00,
subject to adjustment. In general, under the plan, if a person or affiliated group acquires beneficial ownership of 20% or more of our shares of common stock,
then each Right (other than those held by such acquiring person or affiliated group) will entitle the holder to receive, upon exercise, shares of common stock (or,
under certain circumstances, a combination of securities or other assets) having a value of twice the underlying purchase price of the Right. In addition, if
following the announcement of the existence of an acquiring person or affiliated group we are involved in a business combination or sale of 50% or more of our
assets or earning power, each Right (other than those held by the acquiring person or affiliated group) will entitle the holder to receive, upon exercise, shares of
common stock of the acquiring entity having a value of twice the underlying purchase price of the Right. The board of directors also has the right, after an
acquiring person or affiliated group is identified, to cause each Right to be exchanged for common stock or substitute consideration. We may redeem the Rights at
a price of $0.001 per Right prior to the identification of an acquiring person or affiliated group. The Rights expire on November 23, 2016.

We also may be subject to provisions of the Delaware corporation law that, in general, prohibit any business combination with a beneficial owner of 15%
or more of our common stock for three years unless the holder’s acquisition of our stock was approved in advance by our board of directors. Although we believe
these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to receive higher bids by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with our board of directors, they would
apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders. In any event, these provisions may delay or prevent a third party from acquiring us.
Any such delay or prevention could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
 
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

We effected the initial public offering of our common stock, or IPO, pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-119433) that was
declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2005.

As of June 30, 2007, we had used approximately $113.6 million of the net proceeds from our IPO to fund our operations, including development of our
clinical trials and we had used $2.2 million for acquisitions of property and equipment. Other than the compensation paid to our officers and directors, no
proceeds were paid directly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or to any
other affiliates. We expect to use a majority of the remainder of the net proceeds from our IPO to continue the development of our existing clinical programs. In
addition, we may use a portion of the net proceeds from our IPO to acquire technologies or businesses that are complementary to our own, but we currently have
no commitments or agreements relating to any such transaction.
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We cannot specify with certainty all of the particular uses for the net proceeds received from our IPO. The amount and timing of our expenditures will
depend on several factors, including the progress of our development efforts and the amount of cash used in our operations. Accordingly, our management will
have broad discretion in the continued application of the net proceeds from our IPO. Pending the uses described above, we have invested the net proceeds from
our initial public offering in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments.
 
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

None.
 
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

None.
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.
 
Exhibit
Number   Description
10.1(1)   Executive Employment Agreement between MediciNova, Inc. and Yuichi Iwaki, M.D., Ph.D., dated April 1, 2007.

31.1   Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for the period ended June 30, 2007.

31.2   Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for the period ended June 30, 2007.

32.1   Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

32.2   Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002).

(1) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

 MEDICINOVA, INC.

Date: August 9, 2007  By:  /s/    YUICHI IWAKI        

  

Yuichi Iwaki, M.D., Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

(on behalf of the registrant and
as the registrant’s Principal Executive Officer)

 By:  /s/    SHINTARO ASAKO        

  

Shintaro Asako,
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(on behalf of the registrant and
as the registrant’s Principal Financial Officer)
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31.1   Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for the period ended June 30, 2007.

31.2   Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for the period ended June 30, 2007.
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(1) Filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
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EXHIBIT 31.1

MEDICINOVA, INC.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for the Period Ended June 30, 2007

I, Yuichi Iwaki, President and Chief Executive Officer of MediciNova, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2007 of MediciNova, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date:   August 9, 2007

By:  /s/    YUICHI IWAKI        
 Yuichi Iwaki, M.D., Ph.D.
 President and Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

MEDICINOVA, INC.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for the Period Ended June 30, 2007

I, Shintaro Asako, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of MediciNova, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2007 of MediciNova, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under my supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report my conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date:   August 9, 2007

By:  /s/    SHINTARO ASAKO        
 Shintaro Asako

 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of MediciNova, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2007 (the “Report”), I, Yuichi
Iwaki, Chief Executive Officer of MediciNova, Inc., hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of MediciNova,
Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated.

This certification has not been, and shall not be deemed, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

Date:   August 9, 2007

By:  /s/    YUICHI IWAKI        
 Yuichi Iwaki, M.D., Ph.D.

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
 



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

In connection with the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of MediciNova, Inc. for the period ended June 30, 2007 (the “Report”), I, Shintaro
Asako, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of MediciNova, Inc., hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of MediciNova,
Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated.

This certification has not been, and shall not be deemed, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

Date:   August 9, 2007

By:  /s/    SHINTARO ASAKO        
 Shintaro Asako

 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)


